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RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION
INTRODUCTION
The Petitioner, Franklin Office Park Realty Corporation (“Franklin”), has appealed a Notice of Intent to Assess a Civil Administrative Penalty ("PAN") that the Central Regional Office of the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection ("MassDEP" or "Department") issued to Franklin in the amount of $18,225.  The PAN pertains to the alleged unlawful handling and disposal of asbestos at a property owned by Franklin at 21 Hastings Street, Mendon, MA (“Property” or “Site”), in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b), 7.15(1)(e), and 19.014(3).  Asbestos is a known carcinogen and air pollutant which the Department regulates under G.L. c. 111 §§ 142A-O and 310 CMR 7.00. 


Franklin appealed the PAN, claiming that it did not willfully commit the alleged violations and thus the Department was without legal authority to assess the penalty.  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, pp. 8-19; Franklin’s Memorandum of Law, pp. 8-16.  Franklin also claimed the penalty was excessive because the Department failed to make sufficient downward adjustments to the penalty amount pursuant to 310 CMR 5.25 and G.L. c. 21A § 16.   

Following an adjudicatory hearing, I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner affirm the PAN.  A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that the violations were willful and that the Department sufficiently considered mitigating circumstances, and thus made sufficient downward adjustments when it calculated the penalty. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
Shortly after the appeal was filed, I held a Pre-Screening Conference with the parties, after which the issues for adjudication were defined as follows:
1. Whether MassDEP had authority to issue the PAN based upon the precondition in G.L. c. 21A § 16 and 310 CMR 5.10 and 5.14 that the violations were willful and not the result of error.
2. If the answer to Issue 1 is in the affirmative, whether the Petitioner is liable for the violations alleged in the PAN.

3. If the Petitioner is liable for some or all of the violations alleged in the PAN, whether the associated monetary penalties for those violations are excessive.

See Pre-Screening Conference Report and Order.    

At the adjudicatory hearing, the following witness testified on behalf of the Department:

1. Gregory P. Levins.  Mr. Levins is employed as an Environmental Analyst V with the Bureau of Waste Prevention in the Department’s Central Regional Office, Worcester, MA.  He has been employed with the Department since 1982.  He holds a BS in geography, and has substantial training and experience in asbestos handling and remediation.  Levins PFT
, ¶¶ 1-5.


The following witnesses testified on behalf of Franklin:

1. Kevin P. Meehan.  Mr. Meehan is the president, treasurer, and sole stockholder of Franklin.

2. Robert S. Berger.  Mr. Berger is an environmental manager with over 25 years of experience “supervising multidisciplinary cleanup personnel.”  He is also a Licensed Site Professional and an Emergency Response Manager. Berger PFT, ¶¶ 1-2. 
THE BURDEN OF PROOF 


Under 310 CMR 5.00, when the Department seeks to assess an administrative penalty against any party it has the burden of proving the disputed elements of its case by a preponderance of the evidence.  See 310 CMR 5.36(2) and (3).  “A party in a civil case having the burden of proving a particular fact [by a preponderance of the evidence] does not have to establish the existence of that fact as an absolute certainty. . . .  [I]t is sufficient if the party having the burden of proving a particular fact establishes the existence of that fact as the greater likelihood, the greater probability.”  Massachusetts Jury Instructions, Civil, 1.14(d).

The relevancy, admissibility, and weight of evidence that the parties sought to introduce in the hearing were governed by G.L. c. 30A, § 11(2) and 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h)(1).  Under 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h), “[t]he weight to be attached to any evidence in the record will rest within the sound discretion of the Presiding Officer. . . .” 
FACTUAL FINDINGS AND HEARSAY RULINGS
Handling and Disposal of Asbestos Shingles

Kevin P. Meehan is the president, treasurer, and sole stockholder of Franklin.  Meehan PFT, ¶¶ 1, 5.  Franklin purchased the Property on October 21, 2008.  Id.  Franklin has no employees.  Transcript, p. 97.  Mr. Meehan owns another company called Meehan Realty Management, which is generally responsible for the management, maintenance, and repair of properties owned by Mr. Meehan and his companies.  Transcript, pp. 90, 94, 98.   

Mr. Meehan is an experienced businessman and real-estate investor, owner, and manager.  He “own[s] and operate[s] through various entities various parcels of real estate in Massachusetts, most of which have buildings thereon.  [His] real estate holdings are primarily commercial.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 2.  He owns more than thirty different parcels of property.  Transcript, pp. 89-90.  He also owns and operates three different automobile dealerships.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 2.     
The buildings at the Site are a three-family residential house and a commercial garage.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 5.  Approximately two to three weeks after Franklin purchased the Site, Mr. Meehan became aware of a leak in the roof on the house.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 6.  He investigated the leak himself, noticing that “many of the shingles were curled and had pieces broken off and on the top part of the roof tar was visible.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 6.  He concluded that the entire roof needed to be replaced.  Id.  
Mr. Meehan commenced his search to “locate a roofer to reshingle the roof.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 7.  How Mr. Meehan ultimately engaged a roofer is the subject of conflicting testimony in the record.  In particular, Mr. Meehan’s Pre-Filed Direct Testimony conflicts quite dramatically with his testimony at the adjudicatory hearing.  His Pre-Filed Direct Testimony states that he identified a roofing company by contacting Emanuel (a/k/a “Manny”) Jordao, who told him about “an Ecuadorian roofing crew he knew.”  The company was called F&G Roofing and Siding.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 8.  According to Mr. Meehan, Mr. Jordao stated that F&G was good, would do the job quickly, and be very reasonably priced.  Id.  The crew did not speak English, but Mr. Jordao was able to facilitate communications.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 8.    Mr. Jordao was a longtime automobile dealership employee of Mr. Meehan’s; he was responsible for cleaning cars, and he also operated his own landscaping and snow plowing business, known as ERJ Construction & Landscape.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 7; Transcript, p. 94; Levins PFT, ¶ 24.  
Mr. Meehan’s Pre-Filed Direct Testimony did not mention the name of Jonathan Orton, an employee of his at Meehan Realty Management who worked on behalf of Franklin.  Transcript, pp. 91, 96, 97-98; Levins Rebuttal PFT
, ¶¶ 1-6, 9-10.  Mr. Orton holds a Massachusetts Construction Supervisor’s license issued by the Massachusetts Department of Public Safety, specifically the Board of Building Regulations and Standards, pursuant to 780 CMR 110.R5.  Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 1-5.  A Construction Supervisor is generally charged with ensuring compliance with the State Building Code, 780 CMR 1.00 et seq.  The Building Code at 780 CMR 3301.1 (7th edition) requires compliance with MassDEP’s regulations and statutes addressing asbestos and the disposal of demolition debris.
Mr. Orton’s role at the Site did not come to light in this appeal until Mr. Levins noticed Mr. Orton’s name and telephone number on the building permit attached to Mr. Meehan’s Pre-Filed Direct Testimony.  Mr. Levins contacted Mr. Orton to ascertain his role, and provided detailed Pre-Filed Rebuttal Testimony from that conversation.  Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 3-12.  In response, at the adjudicatory hearing, Mr. Meehan testified for the first time to Mr. Orton’s role, generally corroborating the testimony provided by Mr. Levins.  Transcript, pp. 91-92, 96.  He testified that “we” (he and Mr. Orton) “decided we needed a roof, so Jonathan started talking to roofers.”  Transcript, p. 96.  He testified that Mr. Orton, not he, in contrast to his Pre-Filed Direct Testimony, contacted Mr. Jordao: “knowing that Manny was an immigrant and there were roofers in the area, he talked to Manny about it and Manny said he could probably try these people [F&G].”  Transcript, p. 96.  In addition to testifying for the first time to Mr. Orton’s role, Mr. Meehan minimized Mr. Jordao’s role.  He testified at the adjudicatory hearing that Mr. Jordao “never worked for him on [this re-roofing] project . . . .”  Transcript, pp. 95-96, compare with Meehan PFT, ¶¶ 7-8, 13.
            
  Mr. Meehan consulted with Mr. Orton regarding which roofer to select and how to have the roofing job commenced and completed.  He testified: “Jonathan said that [F&G] was the best value, so that’s what he brought and said this is what we can do and this is how we would do it and it went from there.”  Transcript, p. 96.  Mr. Meehan does not recall the agreed upon contract price.  Transcript, p. 91. Mr. Meehan also does not know whether F&G had a “contractor’s license.”  Transcript, p. 91.

In addition to working on behalf of Franklin to find and select a roofer, on November 19, 2008, Mr. Orton applied for and obtained the building permit to remove and replace the roof.  Transcript, pp. 91, 96, 97-98; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 1-6, 9-10.  The building permit application stated it was to remove asphalt shingles from the roof and replace them with new asphalt shingles.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 9, Exhibit 2; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 1-8.  A separately typed statement at the bottom of the permit states: “All work must now comply with the MA State Bldg. Code ‘7th’ Edition as of 1-1-08.  DEP and E.P.A. requirements.  Contractor must have Demo License.”  Meehan PFT, Exhibit 2.
Franklin did not enter into a written contract with F&G.  Transcript, pp. 96-97; Levins PFT, ¶¶ 21, 26.  Instead, Mr. Orton verbally instructed F&G what needed to be done at the Site, which generally consisted of F&G removing the existing roof shingles and replacing them with new shingles provided by Mr. Orton on behalf of Franklin.  Transcript, pp. 100-101; Levins PFT, ¶ 26.  Mr. Orton delivered the new shingles at the beginning of the job, and he returned later “to make sure no one fell off the roof or something.”  Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 10-11; Levins PFT, ¶ 26.  

Mr. Jordao, upon the request of F&G and on behalf of Franklin, obtained from New England Recycling a “roll-off container” in which to place the old shingles at the Site.  Meehan PFT, ¶¶ 13, 14; Levins PFT, ¶ 26; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 15.  Mr. Jordao used his landscaping company’s account with New England Recycling to have it deliver the container to the site, and subsequently removed.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 13; Levins PFT ¶¶ 23, 26.  The use and transportation of the container was paid for through Mr. Jordao’s account, and Mr. Jordao was later reimbursed by F&G.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 13.  The New England Recycling “COD Dispatch Sheet,” which has a date of November 20, 2008 (one day after receiving the building permit), identified ERJ Construction & Landscape as the customer.  However, it listed the Site address and Clair Hopkins, who was employed by Meehan Realty Management, as the contact person who “works for Kevin Meehan,” along with the Meehan Realty Management telephone number (508-473-2900).
   Levins PFT, ¶¶ 23, 25-26 and Exhibit 1; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 17 and Exhibits R-1 and R-2; Transcript, p. 98.  Likewise, New England Recycling’s “Asbestos Incident Summary Report Form” identified ERJ Construction & Landscape as the source of the waste, the Site address, and Clair Hopkins, as the contact person, along with the Meehan Realty Management telephone number.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 23, 25 and Exhibit 1; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 17.  

After the job had been completed, F&G or someone from “Mr. Meehan’s office” contacted New England Recycling to remove the container from the Site.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 14; Transcript, pp. 98-99; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 15.  New England Recycling did so on November 25, 2008.  Levins Rebuttal PFT, Exhibits R-1 and R-2.  On November 26, 2008, New England Recycling reported to MassDEP that the contents of the container included asbestos containing material.  New England Recycling could not accept it because it did not have the requisite regulatory approvals to handle and dispose of asbestos.  Levins PFT, pp. 4-5.  That same day, New England Recycling also called Clair Hopkins at Meehan Realty Management to report that it could not accept the container because it contained asbestos.  Mr. Meehan testified that this was the first time he became aware that the shingles contained asbestos.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 15; Berger PFT, ¶ 3; Transcript, p. 99.  MassDEP has no evidence to the contrary.  Transcript, p. 65.

When the materials were transported from the Site for disposal at New England Recycling the container and the asbestos within it were not properly covered, sealed, and packaged, as required by applicable regulations.  Those regulatory measures exist to avoid a release of asbestos to the ambient air. 
  Transcript, pp. 35-36; Levins PFT, ¶¶ 44-45.  In particular, the asbestos was not sealed in air-tight containers, and instead was loaded loosely into the container with a loose-fitting, mesh tarp.  Transcript, p. 35; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 14-15.  Mr. Levins testified that this could have caused a condition of air pollution, but MassDEP was not present to take any air samples.  Transcript, p. 36.

Upon learning that the shingles contained asbestos, Mr. Meehan promptly called Mr. Robert Berger, an environmental manager with whom he had previously worked, and requested that he act on behalf of Franklin to coordinate the proper handling and disposal of the shingles.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 15; Berger PFT, ¶ 3.  At Mr. Meehan’s request, disposal was expedited, increasing its cost.  Berger PFT, ¶ 3.  New England Recycling sealed the container with a leak-proof polyethylene cover to prevent the release of asbestos, and returned it to the Site.  Berger PFT, ¶ 4; Levins, ¶ 9; Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 14.  When Mr. Levins inspected the container at the Site he observed that it contained friable asbestos, including “numerous pieces of broken asbestos containing transite shingles mixed in with wood, asphalt shingles, roofing paper, and miscellaneous debris.  The asbestos containing transite shingles were not sealed in any type of container and were not labeled in any manner.”  Levins PFT, ¶ 15, 44.  Samples of the materials showed that the transite shingles contained 30% chrysotile asbestos by area, exceeding the 1% threshold for a material to be an “asbestos containing material.”  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 18-19, 38, 40 and Exhibit 4, 4b; see 310 CMR 7.00 (definition of “asbestos containing material”).  Tests performed on other materials on behalf of New England Recycling showed 15% chrysotile asbestos.  Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 16 and Exhibits R-2 and R-3.  New England Recycling first suspected that there was asbestos in the container when it opened the container door to dump the contents.  Levins PFT, Exhibit 1 (Asbestos Incident Summary Report Form).   Over the course of two days, a professional asbestos abatement company properly removed all asbestos containing material from the container, placing it in 850 separate bags and a new container for proper disposal.  Berger PFT, Exhibit B.
Following these events, the Department issued the PAN to Franklin, alleging that Franklin violated applicable regulations by:

1. [Failing] to notify the Department of a demolition/renovation operation involving the removal of asbestos-containing material (transite shingles) at the Site, in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b).  Specifically, the Company did not file notification with the Department for the removal of asbestos-containing materials (transite shingles) at the Site.
2. [Failing] to seal asbestos-containing waste material (transite shingles) in leak tight containers at the Site, in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e).  Specifically, MassDEP personnel observed asbestos-containing waste materials (broken asbestos-containing transite shingles and transite shingle fragments) uncontained in a roll off container at the Site.

3. [Failing] to label asbestos-containing waste material (transite shingles) at the Site, in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e).  Specifically, MassDEP personnel observed asbestos-containing waste material (transite shingles) in a roll off container at the Site that was not marked with the required asbestos warning labels.

4. [Disposing or contracting] for the disposal of solid waste (asbestos-containing transite shingles ) at a facility that was not approved to manage the particular type of solid waste being disposed of, in violation of 310 CMR 19.014(3).

PAN, p. 3.  The penalty amounts for the separate violations were $8,156.25, $975.00, $937.50, and $8,156.25, respectively, for a total of $18,225.00.

Findings Regarding Knowledge of the Contract and Asbestos
Mr. Meehan testified to the terms of the verbal contract with F&G as follows: “Franklin engaged F&G as independent contractors to remove the existing asphalt shingles from the building and replace them with new asphalt shingles and to dispose of the old asphalt shingles.  Franklin [agreed to] suppl[y] the new asphalt shingles and ha[ve] them delivered to the Site.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 8.  
Mr. Meehan believes that F&G had no actual knowledge that the removed shingles contained asbestos.  Meehan PFT, ¶ 14.  Mr. Meehan stated that he did not confirm that belief with F&G; he just thinks that they wouldn’t do something illegal if they had known of the asbestos.  Transcript, p. 92. 

Mr. Meehan claims that he “never dealt with asbestos in [his] career and [has] no training or knowledge relating to asbestos.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 4.  Mr. Meehan asserts that he “never heard of roofing shingles containing asbestos and [he] never remotely suspected that the roofing shingles on the Building contained asbestos.  [He has] since spoken to various people who have been contractors for years who have told [him] they have never seen or heard of roof shingles that contained asbestos.” 
  Meehan PFT, ¶ 11.  
I attach little weight to the preceding three paragraphs of testimony, for several reasons.  I find that Mr. Meehan’s credibility and reliability were compromised based upon the significant conflicts in his testimony and his lack of recollection and personal knowledge regarding certain of the events.
  See supra. at pp. 4-8.  Further, Mr. Meehan admitted that he did not speak with the roofers and was not present when Mr. Jordao and Mr. Orton spoke with them.  Transcript, pp. 91-92, 101.  He admitted that their role was dictated by the instructions provided by Mr. Orton, but he does not know what the precise instructions to F&G were.  Transcript, pp. 92, 101.  He believes that generally: “they were removing shingles or whatever is happening.  And we’re – we’re – we’re replacing them with new shingles and these are the shingles that I want to use.”  Transcript, p. 101.  Mr. Meehan also could not recall the agreed upon contract price. 

Mr. Meehan’s testimony regarding industry knowledge of asbestos shingles suffers not only from the reliability and credibility problems discussed above, it is based on hearsay for which there are no indicia of reliability.  It also conflicts with Mr. Levins’ testimony.  Indeed, I credit Mr. Levins’ testimony concerning his personal knowledge of industry experience and standards.  I do so because of his lengthy expertise in the areas of asbestos regulation and remediation.  Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 13-14.  In particular, Mr. Levins testified:

Based on my experience it is widely known among roofing contractors that for numerous roofing products such as shingles, tar paper, roof tar, roofing adhesives and cement are all suspect asbestos containing materials.  U.S. EPA and MassDEP regulations both identify shingles as potential asbestos containing materials.  Most new non-asbestos roofing products are now labeled as such to identify to contractors that these products are asbestos free.  Additionally for disposal purposes contractors must address the issue of whether or not the waste generated from their roofing project contains asbestos.  The vast majority of all roofing waste generated in Massachusetts is sent to either an asphalt shingle recycling facility C&D (construction and demolition) processing facility, or to a hot mix asphalt batching plant for recycling.  Contractors must have roofing waste tested for asbestos prior to sending it to one of these facilities or the receiving facility will conduct asbestos sampling to determine whether or not they can accept and process the waste.  Based on these facts it is highly improbable that any contractor who has done any significant amount of roofing work in the Commonwealth would be completely unaware of the possibility that asbestos containing materials could be encountered in a roofing project.

Levins Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 13.  The regulatory definition of asbestos containing materials expressly includes “shingles” in addition to several other materials.  See 310 CMR 7.00 (definitions).  This evidence is consistent with readily available public information that identifies many materials, including shingles, as containing asbestos.
  See G.L. c. 30A § 11(6).  Mr. Levins also testified that the owner or operator has an obligation to investigate whether shingles that are to be removed contain asbestos.  Transcript, pp. 19-21, 29, 30, 65.  He testified that Mr. Meehan’s prior experience with commercial properties and demolition projects put him in a different position than a layperson.  Transcript, pp. 69-70.  Mr. Levins testified that the improper removal of asbestos shingles was not the result of error because it was foreseeable through proper testing and Mr. Meehan’s prior involvement with several commercial properties and demolition projects.  Transcript, pp. 67-68.   

I find that Mr. Orton and Mr. Meehan knew or should have known that the roofing shingles and other roofing materials could contain asbestos.  They would have discovered such asbestos had they performed due diligence prior to commencing their project to remove and replace the roof.  I make these findings based upon: (1) the evidence regarding industry knowledge and experience, (2) the notation at the bottom of the building permit requiring compliance with DEP and EPA requirements, (3) Mr. Orton’s and Mr. Meehan’s professional backgrounds and experiences, particularly Mr. Orton’s status as a licensed Construction Supervisor, and (4) the imputation to Mr. Meehan of what Mr. Orton knew or should have known based upon his status as a licensed Construction Supervisor and, alternatively, through the exercise of due diligence.  The knowledge of Mr. Meehan and Mr. Orton, who was working as an agent on behalf of Franklin, is imputed to Franklin.  See Sunrise Properties, Inc. v. Bacon, Wilson, Ratner, Cohen, Salvage, Fialky & Fitzgerald, P.C., 425 Mass. 63, 66-68 (1997)(“[U]nder ordinary agency principles, [the agent’s] knowledge [including constructive knowledge] is imputed to [the principal].”); New England Trust Co. v. Bright, 274 Mass. 407, 414, 174 N.E. 469 (1931) (quoting Shaw v. Spencer, 100 Mass. 382, 390 (1868) (“[t]he knowledge of the defendants' agent was their knowledge and it continued during the time the purchases in issue were made. As persons of ordinary prudence the defendants were put upon inquiry and this ‘is constructive notice of everything to which that inquiry might have led.’”  (emphasis added)); see also Juergens v. Venture Capital Corp., 1 Mass. App. Ct. 274, 278, 295 N.E.2d 398 (1973); Michelin Tires (Canada) Ltd. v. First National Bank of Boston, 666 F.2d 673, 682 (1st Cir. 1981) (a person of ordinary prudence, once put upon inquiry, has constructive notice of everything to which that inquiry might have led); Conte v. School Committee of Methuen, 4 Mass. App. 600, 356 N.E.2d 261, 265 (1976) (person “cannot willfully shut his eyes to the means of acquiring knowledge which he knows are at hand and thus escape the consequences which would flow from the notice had it been actually received").  I also find that F&G, as a company that engages in the roofing business, knew or should have known that shingles may contain asbestos.
Hearsay Rulings
Franklin moved to strike a number of alleged hearsay statements in Mr. Levins’ Pre-Filed Direct Testimony and his Pre-Filed Rebuttal Testimony.  See Petitioners’ Motion to Strike Hearsay Testimony of Gregory Levins.  General Laws c. 30A § 11(2) provides that except where otherwise provide by law “agencies need not observe the rules of evidence observed by courts . . . .  Evidence may be admitted and given probative effect only if it is the kind of evidence on which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs.”  Accord 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h).  Hearsay evidence may be admissible in an adjudicatory hearing.  Indeed, the Supreme Judicial Court held recently that “[s]ubstantial evidence may be based on hearsay alone if that hearsay has ‘indicia of reliability.’"  Covell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 439 Mass. 766, 785-86 (2003) (sufficient indicia of reliability was found where the hearsay was detailed and consistent and there was an absence of motive or reason to make false allegations); accord Embers of Salisbury, Inc. v. Alcoholic Beverages Control Comm'n, 401 Mass. 526, 530, 517 N.E.2d 830 (1988) (“Factors to be considered [in determining whether there is sufficient indicia of reliability] include independence or possible bias of the declarant, the type of hearsay materials submitted, whether statements are sworn to, whether statements are contradicted by direct testimony, availability of the declarant, and credibility of the declarant.”).  The allowance of reliable hearsay in administrative proceedings is intended to increase their efficiency.  Costa v. Fall River Hous. Auth., 453 Mass. 614, 627 (2009).
More recently, the Supreme Judicial Court held that reliance upon hearsay to form “the basis” of an administrative decision to terminate housing assistance benefits was “consistent with applicable due process requirements . . . so long as that evidence contains substantial indicia of reliability.”  Costa v. Fall River Hous. Auth., 453 Mass. 614, 627 (2009).  Analyzing the potential risk of error in the decision, the court stated that “[r]eliance on hearsay that is anonymous, uncorroborated, or contradicted by other evidence will create particular risk of error. . . .  On the other hand, reliance on hearsay from known, disinterested parties that is factually detailed, is given under penalty of law, or fits a recognized hearsay exception, will be relatively unlikely to result in error.”  Id. at 628-29 (reliance on police report was appropriate but reliance on newspaper article was not because it contained the “kind of unattributed, multi-level, and conclusory hearsay evidence” and the impact of such evidence “turns on the weight” that was given to the article).

Franklin’s Motion to Strike is denied because I find that there are sufficient indicia of reliability, assuming the statements are hearsay.
  There is no evidence that any of the declarants were unavailable to testify, but none of them were called by Franklin as witnesses.  Nor did Franklin request subpoenas for their testimony. 
  Two of the declarants, Ms. Hopkins and Mr. Orton, were employees of Meehan Real Property Management, indicating their interests are aligned with Franklin’s and thus they had no bias or motive to provide untruthful or unreliable information.  Mr. Correia worked for a third party, New England Recycling, who had no apparent motive to provide untruthful or unreliable information.  Moreover, New England Recycling was engaged by Mr. Jordao, a friend and former employee of Mr. Meehan’s.  Lastly, most of the alleged hearsay statements are consistent and detailed, corroborated by other testimony in the record, including testimony from Franklin’s witnesses, Mr. Meehan and Mr. Berger, and not contradicted by other evidence in the record.
DISCUSSION
I.
The Department Had Legal Authority To Issue The PAN And Franklin Is Liable For The Violations Alleged In The PAN
A.
The Department Properly Interpreted “Willful And Not The Result of Error” 


The Department is authorized by the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, 

§ 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.00, to assess civil administrative penalties.  The Civil Administrative Penalties Act and the Administrative Penalty Regulations are designed to “promote protection of public health, safety, and welfare, and the environment, by promoting compliance, and deterring and penalizing noncompliance . . . .”  310 CMR 5.02(1).


Generally, the Department “may assess a civil administrative penalty on a person who fails to comply with any provision of any regulation, . . . or of any law which the department has the authority or responsibility to enforce [if] . . . such noncompliance occurred after the department had given such person written notice of such noncompliance, and after reasonable time, as determined by the department and stated in said notice, had elapsed for coming into compliance . . .”  G.L. c. 21A, § 16; 310 CMR 5.10 to 310 CMR 5.12.  The Department may, however, assess a penalty without such prior written notice of noncompliance if the failure to comply: “(1) was part of a pattern of noncompliance and not an isolated instance, or (2) was willful and not the result of error, or (3) resulted in significant impact on public health, safety, welfare or the environment, . . .” or (4) meets other specified criteria regarding oil or hazardous materials or hazardous wastes.  G.L. c. 21A, § 16 (emphasis added); 310 CMR 5.14.

Here, the Department assessed a penalty without a prior written notice, claiming that the violations were willful and not the result of error.  Franklin argues that its actions were not willful, and instead were the result of error.  Franklin contends that it acted in good faith, without knowledge of the law and a motive to violate the law.  In particular, it claims that “neither Franklin or its principal or its independent roofing contractor had any training or knowledge with reference to asbestos, and did not know nor did they have reason to know or even suspect that the roof shingles contained asbestos, had no knowledge of the applicable legal requirements, and did not intend to violate the law . . . .”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 10.  Franklin concludes that willful “should take into account the state of mind, knowledge, intent, and motivation of the offender.”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 13.

Franklin’s arguments are inconsistent with over twenty years of prior Department decisions, which this forum is obligated to follow.  For a number of years Final Decisions of the Department’s Commissioner in administrative appeals have consistently held that “willfulness,” as used in G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.14, does not require proof of bad faith, intent to violate the law, or any knowledge of applicable legal requirements by the environmental law violator; “[it] requires only the intent to do an act that violates the law if done, and nothing more.”  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) (quoting Matter of James G. Grant Company, Inc., Docket No. 92-044, Final Decision, 2000 MA ENV LEXIS 127, at 5-6, and providing string citation of similar decisions); see also Commonwealth v. Clemmey, 447 Mass. 121, 132 n. 12 (2006) (“intent to violate the [Wetlands Protection Act is not] an element of the crimes with which [the defendant] has been charged. . . .  [T]he only intent required is an intention to commit the acts of filling and altering the wetlands.”).      
The phrase “not the result of error” has been interpreted to mean “that the violations are not accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  Id.; Matter of Accutech Insulation and Contracting, Inc., Docket No. 2009-009, Recommended Final Decision (November 18, 2009), adopted by Final Decision (January 11, 2009); Matter of Cummings Properties Management, Inc., Docket No. 98-030, Final Decision, 7 DEPR 139, 145 (October 20, 2000)(quoting the Department's June, 1999 "Guidance on Applying Willful and Not the Result of Error as a Precondition to Assessing a Penalty.").  In Matter of Accutech, the Presiding Officer summarized the “willful and not the result of error” inquiry, stating “the issue is not whether [the actor] intended to cause the harm that occurred but whether taking into account the totality of the circumstances the violations were unforeseeable and beyond its control.” 
This enduring interpretation of “willful and not the result of error” can be traced back at least 22 years to the decision Matter of Dynamics Research Corporation, Docket No. 87-001, Decision on Division's Motion For Summary Decision, 6 MELR 1261 (March 24, 1988).  In Dynamics Research, the Hearing Officer upheld the Department's interpretation of “willful and not the result of error” that was provided in Department guidance.  That guidance stated that a violation is “willful and not the result of error if the violator intentionally took the action . . . as a result of which the violation occurred. . . .  It is not necessary that the violator knew that it was illegal to do what he did.  It is sufficient that he intended to do what he did.”
  Id. at 1267.  The Hearing Officer acknowledged that this interpretation of “willful” is “not the only conceivable one.”  Id. (citing and quoting Spies v. United States, 317 U.S. 492, 497 (1943) (“‘willful’ is a ‘word of many meanings,’ depending on its context”).  She concluded, however, that the Department’s interpretation was “clearly within the intent of the statute and regulations, which contemplate that administrative penalties would be a tool of routine enforcement, not of extraordinary punishment, since it focuses on behavior that poses a threat to the environment.”  Id. (emphasis added).  She noted that “[i]t is only in very few criminal cases that ‘willful’ means ‘done with a bad purpose.’”  Id. at n. 6.

This interpretation of willful and not the result of error remains consistent with principles of statutory construction and Massachusetts case law.
  See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010); In re Adoption of a Minor, 343 Mass. 292, 178 N.E.2d 264 (1961) (“willfully deserted or neglected to provide proper care and maintenance for a child” requires only that the parent’s “conduct resulting in the failure to provide was not unintentional,” or that the parent simply “intended the course of conduct which resulted in the neglect to provide.”); Com. v. Luna, 641 N.E.2d 1050, 1053, 418 Mass. 749, 753 (1994) (“the modern definition is that ‘wilful means intentional’ without making reference to any evil intent as the defendant suggests”); Com. v. O'Neil, 853 N.E.2d 576, 582, 67 Mass.App.Ct. 284, 290 (2006) (same); see also Matter of Francis G. Warcewicz, Docket No. 86-064, Decision on Motions for Summary Decision (April 24, 1987) (applying Massachusetts appellate courts’ interpretation of willful in other contexts and concluding that it did not matter that petitioner believed his conduct was “justified” and “exempt” because he intended the conduct that resulted in filling the wetlands), Final Decision (February 3, 1989), rev'd on other grounds sub nomine Warcewicz v. Department of Environmental Protection, 410 Mass. 548, 574 N.E.2d 364 (1991).  

The Petitioner’s arguments that a willfulness finding is somehow dependent upon bad faith or upon issuance of a prior notice of noncompliance have been generally addressed and found unpersuasive in prior Department decisions.  See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) (citing Matter of Paul Campagna, Docket No. 98-112, Final Decision, 7 DEPR 159 (November 1, 2000) (the petitioner argued that the Department’s interpretation of willful was “overly aggressive” and rendered the other preconditions—such as "pattern of noncompliance", "failure to promptly report" and "failure to maintain remedy operation status" meaningless); Matter of Timothy Maginnis, Docket No. 97-151, Ruling on Cross Motions for Summary Decision (March 23, 1999) (“There is nothing in the statutory language to suggest that the meaning of willful is dependent upon the seriousness of the violation and the degree of environmental harm.”). 
Moreover, because the conduct must at least be willful, the Department’s longstanding definition of willful does not effectively impose strict liability, as the Franklin suggests.
  See generally Commonwealth v. Lopez, 433 Mass. 722, 745 N.E.2d 961 (2001) (the absence of mens rea as to the consent element did not “transform[] rape into a strict liability crime,” it is a “general intent crime”; the requisite intention is to perform the sexual act); Commonwealth v. Belanger, 30 Mass. App. Ct. 31, 33, 565 N.E.2d 811 (1991)(“When statutes impose punishment out of considerations of public policy, lack of knowledge of the law or of the fact that the law has been violated does not exonerate the person who may have unwittingly violated the statute. In such instances, the old chestnut applies that ignorance of the law is no excuse.”).

In addition, the Legislature’s amendments to G.L. c. 21A § 16 provide additional evidence that the Department’s interpretation comports with legislative intent.  Since the Dynamics Research decision, the Legislature amended G.L. c. 21A § 16 in 1990, 1998, 2004, and 2008.  It is “presume[d] that when the Legislature amends a statute it is ‘aware of the prior state of the law as explicated by the decisions of this court,’ Commonwealth v. Callahan, 440 Mass. 436, 441, 799 N.E.2d 113 (2003), and where it has reenacted statutory language without material change, they are ‘presumed to have adopted the judicial construction put upon it.’”  Commonwealth v. Colturi, 448 Mass. 809, 864 N.E.2d 498 (2007) (quoting Nichols v. Vaughan, 217 Mass. 548, 551, 105 N.E. 376 (1914)).  Although the Supreme Judicial Court has not interpreted “willful and not the result of error,” Department decisions have consistently construed “willful and not the result of error” for at least 22 years, while the Legislature has amended the statute four times in that period.  This provides additional evidence that the Department’s construction is consistent with legislative intent.
Here, a preponderance of the evidence shows willfulness based upon (1) Franklin’s conduct, and persons acting on its behalf, and, alternatively, (2) the conduct of F&G, for which Franklin is liable.
1. Evidence Of Willfulness
MassDEP is responsible for enforcement of the Air Pollution Control Regulations, 310 CMR 7.00.  “The purpose of [the regulations] is to prevent the occurrence of conditions of air pollution where such do not exist and to facilitate the abatement of conditions of air pollution where and when such occur. They are designed to attain, preserve, and conserve the highest possible quality of the ambient air compatible with needs of society.”  310 CMR 7.00 (preamble); see also G.L. c. 111 § 142A (authorizing Department to adopt regulations to prevent pollution or contamination of the atmosphere).  The regulations at 310 CMR 7.15(1) set forth the air pollution control standards for asbestos with respect to “Demolition/Renovation,” which means:     
any operation which involves the wrecking, taking out, removal, stripping, or altering in any way (including repairing, restoring, drilling, cutting, sanding, sawing, scratching, scraping, or digging into) or construction of one or more facility components or facility component insulation. This term includes load and nonload- supporting structural members of a facility.

310 CMR 7.00.  For purposes of 310 CMR 7.15, “facility” means “any structure, installation, building, equipment, or ship.”  Here, the demolition/renovation included alteration of the roof, a facility component.  
The standards for demolition/renovation in 310 CMR 7.15(1)(a) provide: 
(a) Applicability.  No person shall cause, suffer, allow, or permit the demolition/renovation, installation, reinstallation, handling, transporting, storage, or disposal of a facility or facility component that contains asbestos, asbestos-containing material, or asbestos-containing waste material in a manner which causes or contributes to a condition of air pollution.


The regulations place responsibility for compliance with the standards for demolition/renovation upon the “owner/operator.”  See 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b)-(g).  The term “owner/operator” means:

any person, any department or instrumentality of the federal government, or any public or private group which: a) has legal title, alone or with others, of a facility, b) has the care, charge, or control of a facility, or c) has control of a demolition/renovation operation, including but not limited to contractors and subcontractors.

The regulations require each “owner/operator” to: (1) provide proper advanced notification of demolition/renovation projects, (2) comply with specified procedures to prevent emissions, (3) comply with air cleaning provisions, and (3) comply with waste disposal requirements, and comply with asbestos application requirements.  See 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b)-(g).  

MassDEP asserts that Franklin is an owner and an operator.  Levins PFT, ¶ 36-37.  I agree.  A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Franklin, acting through Mr. Meehan, Mr. Orton, Mr. Jordao, and Meehan Real Property Management, had care, charge, and control of the Site and control of the demolition/renovation operation.  Mr. Meehan, Mr. Orton, and Mr. Jordao, on behalf of Franklin, had care, charge, and control of all managerial aspects of the job, except the physical removal and replacement of the shingles.  Those managerial aspects included: (1) selecting the roofers, (2) obtaining the building permit, (3) instructing F&G regarding the scope and terms of the work (remove and replace shingles, dispose of removed shingles in roll off container provided by Jordao), (4) providing replacement roofing materials, (5) selecting and engaging a contractor (New England Recycling) to provide a roll-off container to ship and receive the demolition debris, and (6) managing and monitoring the work through Mr. Orton.

Despite this owner and operator status, Franklin contends that the violations were not willful, and thus MassDEP had no authority to assess a penalty without prior written notice.  I disagree, finding a preponderance of the evidence shows that the violations were willful, as interpreted by prior Department decisions.  I find willfulness for each violation as follows: 
Notification of Demolition/Renovation.  The Department alleged that Franklin violated 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b), assessing a penalty of $8,156.25.  That provision prescribes the manner and type of advance notification each owner/operator must provide for demolition/renovation projects, stating, in pertinent part: 

(b) Notification. Each owner/operator of a demolition/renovation operation involving asbestos-containing material shall:

1. Provide the Department with all information required on a Department-approved form with respect to the intended demolition/renovation operation of a facility or facility component. . . .
Asbestos Disposal.  The Department contends that Franklin violated the asbestos disposal regulations, which place responsibility for the proper disposal of asbestos on the owner or operator, stating:

(e) Waste Disposal. Each owner/operator shall:

1. Discharge no visible or particulate emissions to the ambient air during the collection, processing, packaging, transporting, transferring, or disposing of any asbestos-containing waste material, and use the disposal methods specified in 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e) such that the asbestos-containing material is non-friable;

310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.  Franklin is alleged to have violated this provision in two respects.  First, it failed to “use the disposal methods specified in 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e),” specifically, failing to “containerize and seal the asbestos-containing waste material in leak-tight containers.”  310 CMR 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a.  MassDEP claims that it “observed asbestos-containing materials (broken asbestos-containing transite shingles and transite shingle fragments) uncontained in a roll off container at the Site.”  PAN, p. 3.  For this violation, MassDEP assessed a penalty of $975.00.  Second, Franklin was assessed a penalty of $937.50 for failing to label the asbestos containing material in the roll off container, in violation of 310 CMR 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a.

Solid Waste Disposal.  MassDEP also alleged that Franklin violated the solid waste regulations at 310 CMR 19.014(3), which provides: “No person shall dispose or contract for the disposal of solid waste at any facility in Massachusetts that is not approved to manage the particular type of solid waste being disposed.”  MassDEP assessed a penalty of $8,156.25 for this alleged violation.
  The Department contends that Franklin, “directly or through its contractors and/or employees, arranged for asbestos containing waste material generated at the Site to be brought to [New England Recycling] for disposal.  [New England Recycling] is not a solid waste facility permitted to manage asbestos waste in accordance with 310 CMR 19.000.”  Levins PFT, ¶ 48.

Franklin contends that its acts were not willful because it did not know that the shingles contained asbestos and it was not directly involved in removing and disposing the shingles, but F&G was.  Transcript, pp. 96-97.  Mr. Meehan asserts that he did not know how the shingles would be transported from the site or disposed of until after the alleged violations occurred.  Meehan PFT, ¶¶ 13, 14.  According to Mr. Meehan, Franklin did not in any way direct, supervise, or control what F&G did, when Franklin relied on them as “independent roofing contractors.”  Meehan PFT, ¶ 12.
MassDEP disagrees with Franklin’s assessment of whether its acts were willful and not the result of error.  It generally contends that Franklin’s actions were willful and not the result of error because Franklin, acting through Mr. Meehan, Mr. Orton, Mr. Jordao, and Meehan Realty Management, intentionally executed a demolition/renovation project to remove and replace the roof, which was not the result of error.  F&G, it argues, was involved in one aspect of the project, the actual physical removal and replacement of the shingles, which it did at Franklin’s behest.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 55, 67, 78, 89.  MassDEP also asserts that under the longstanding interpretation of “willful and not the result of error” it does not matter whether Franklin knew the shingles contained asbestos.  I agree with MassDEP.  Its argument is consistent with the interpretation of willful and not the result of error, and the evidence.  In any event, I have found that Franklin knew or should have known that the shingles could contain asbestos and that due diligence would have disclosed the asbestos.  See supra. at pp. 10-14.
Applying the accepted interpretation of willful and not the result of error, a preponderance of the evidence shows that in furtherance of the demolition/renovation project Franklin, by and through Messrs. Meehan, Orton, and Jordao, committed the following intentional and unlawful acts: (1) initiating and conducting the project without prior notice to MassDEP, (2) arranging for the disposal of asbestos debris and disposing of such debris via securing a disposal contractor and a roll-off disposal container for F&G’s use in a manner that did not comport with regulatory requirements, and (3) contracting for the disposal of the debris, or solid waste, at a facility that was not authorized to accept the solid waste, also in violation of the applicable regulations.  Franklin cannot distance itself from liability by deflecting responsibility onto Mr. Orton, Mr. Jordao, or F&G.  A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Messrs. Orton and Jordao were acting as agents for the benefit of Franklin and its project to remove and replace the roof.  Franklin, through Mr. Orton and Mr. Jordao, were involved in all aspects of that project, with the exception of F&G’s actual physical removal and replacement of the shingles.  Franklin has not provided persuasive evidence to the contrary, and it is therefore liable for their conduct.  See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision
 (March 22, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) (liability for acts of agents)  (citing Adams v. Hyannis Harborview, Inc., 838 F. Supp. 676, 691 (D.Mass. 1993), aff’d in part sub. nom. Adams v. Zimmerman, 73 F.3d 1164 (1st Cir. 1996); Shafnacker v. Raymond James & Associates, Inc., 425 Mass. 724, 735 n. 13 (1997)); see also Matter of Cummings Properties Management Inc., Docket No. 98-019, Recommended Final Decision, 9 DEPR 34, 50 (Nov. 21, 2001), adopted by Final Decision (Mar. 15, 2002) (in an asbestos case petitioner building owners did not contest the willfulness finding that was apparently premised, at least in part, on the actions of their contractors); Matter of Clementi, Docket No. 99-082, Final Decision (November 16, 2000) (the owner “through agents acting on its behalf, developed a plan for work on the site, took steps necessary to see that the work was performed, and understood that its efforts would lead to clear cutting the lot and alteration of” the wetland).  

I also find that even if F&G’s involvement is considered in isolation as the source of the violations, Franklin, by and through Messrs. Jordao and Orton, exercised a degree of control over the roof replacement project that renders Franklin liable for F&G’s conduct.  See Chiao-Yun Ku v. Town of Framingham, 53 Mass. App. Ct. 727, 730, 762 N.E.2d 855 (2002) (landowner has liability for a contractor when it retains control over work “in any of its aspects,” in contrast to the landowner who relinquishes control of the premises to the contractor); Corsetti v. Stone Co., 396 Mass. 1, 10, 483 N.E.2d 793 (1985) (liability when employer retains right to control “work in any of its aspects”).
Franklin further argues that “[its] breach of the environmental law was not intentional but was inadvertent.”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 10.  Franklin argues that the willful standard should be further defined to exclude conduct that was done inadvertently because conduct that was done inadvertently necessarily excludes willful conduct.  In other words, Franklin argues that the “error” component of “willful and not the result of error” should include inadvertent acts.  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 13.  Franklin argues that this was done in Matter of John’s Insulation, Inc., Docket No. 90-149, Final Decision (October 5, 1995) and Matter of Accutech Insulation and Contracting, Inc., Docket No. 2009-009, Recommended Final Decision (November 18, 2009), adopted by Final Decision (January 11, 2009).
Franklin has not provided a persuasive reason to accept its argument regarding inadvertent conduct.  In both of the cited cases, St. John’s and Accutech, the conduct at issue was found to be willful and not the result of error based upon the Department’s longstanding interpretation.  Those cases did not expand the definition of “willful and not the result of error.”  Indeed, the hearing officer in each case noted in dictum that the actor did not argue its conduct was inadvertent.  It’s not clear why the hearing officers used that term, but it may simply be because something that is inadvertent in all likelihood cannot also be considered willful.  Or, stated differently, something that is inadvertent is, in all likelihood, the result of error, i.e., accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.  In sum, elaborating upon the definition of “willful but not the result of error” to exclude inadvertent acts would, most likely, not materially alter the current interpretation.

In any event, I need not resolve the merits of Franklin’s argument regarding inadvertence.  Frankin’s argument on this point suffers from the same defect as its other arguments.  That is, Franklin continues to focus on the whether it intended to violate the law and its alleged lack of knowledge regarding asbestos.  Indeed, Franklin argues that its “violations of the law and regulations were entirely inadvertent and unintentional, that it did not knowingly or intentionally violate the laws and regulations, and that therefore its acts were not willful . . . .”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 17.  This argument contravenes the longstanding construction of willful and not the result of error, which focuses on whether Franklin intended “an act that violates the law if done, and nothing more.”  Or, conversely, whether that act was the result of error: “accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”
  Given that Franklin’s inadvertence argument is another form of arguing that it did not intend to violate the law, I do not accept it because it contravenes the long-accepted Department interpretation of willful and not the result of error.


2.
Willfulness Derived From F&G’s Conduct
Franklin cannot avoid liability by asserting that F&G was an independent contractor, and it performed all of the willful acts.  First, as discussed above, there is substantial willful conduct that is attributable to Franklin alone.  Second, MassDEP argues that even if Franklin is an independent contractor, Franklin remains liable because handling asbestos is inherently dangerous work that falls within the exception to the general rule that a principal is not liable for the actions of an independent contractor.  MassDEP’s Memorandum of Law, p. 9.  Franklin disagrees, claiming without support that the exception for inherently dangerous work is not applicable because the “roofing contractor is not engaged in an inherently dangerous work likely to cause injury to others unless precautions are taken.”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 19.  Franklin also argues that liability cannot be derived from F&G’s conduct because there “is no evidence whatsoever that the contractor stood in any position different from that of Franklin; namely, there is no evidence that the roofing contractor had any expertise in asbestos, that the contractor knew or had reason to know that the roof shingles contained asbestos, or that the roof contractor acted with any malicious intent . . . .”  Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 18. 

Under the circumstances of this case, Franklin cannot avoid a willfulness finding by asserting F&G is an independent contractor and the violations were performed by F&G, not Franklin.  While it is the general rule that the employer of an independent contractor is not subject to liability for acts or omissions of the contractor or his servants, “the exceptions to this rule have become more important than the rule.”  See J.R. Nolan & L.J. Sartorio, Tort Law § 22.7 (3d ed. 2005) (citing Whalen v. Shivek, 326 Mass. 142, 150–151, 93 N.E.2d 393, 398–399 (1950)(“the general rule is ‘now primarily important as a preamble to the catalog of exceptions.’”).  One such exception arises when the work performed by the independent contractor involves some inherent danger or risk that will probably result in injury to others unless special precautions are taken.  Under such circumstances the principal is vicariously liable for the independent contractor’s conduct.  Id.; Whalen, 326 Mass. at 150–151, 93 N.E.2d at 398–399 (citing several cases).
In Whalen, the court concluded that an inherent danger or risk existed when the contractor was retained to remove a parapet weighing approximately two hundred pounds from a building that bordered on a public sidewalk.  Whalen, 326 Mass. at 151, 93 N.E.2d at 399.  In Harkins v. Colonial Floors, Inc., 8 Mass. L. Rep. 127 (Mass. Super. 1998), Justice Gants found that the removal of asbestos containing material “squarely falls within this exception” for inherently dangerous work.  Justice Gants stated that the defendant could not engage “independent contractors, rather than employees, to remove linoleum containing asbestos, with all the dangers posed by such removal, and then evade liability for the consequences resulting from such inherently dangerous conduct.”  Id.   Justice Gants also found liability under another exception that bases liability on a contractor’s conduct when the work performed by the contractor cannot legally be performed without a valid license or franchise from the government.  Id.  Both exceptions are equally applicable here.  See also Matter of Xarras, Docket No. 2008-005, Recommended Final Decision (March 18, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (April 1, 2010). Given the inherent and heavily regulated dangers and risks associated with removing asbestos shingles and then transporting them on public roads Franklin cannot avoid being vicariously liable for F&G’s willful conduct.  

II.
The Penalties Are Not Excessive 
Although G.L. c. 21A § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25(10) require the Department to consider several factors in calculating the penalty, they “leave[] the weight to be given each factor to agency discretion.  The penalty assessment amount therefore, is not a factual finding but the exercise of a discretionary grant of power.”  Matter of Roofblok Limited, DEP Docket Nos. 2006-047 & 048, Final Decision (May 7, 2010), Final Decision on Reconsideration (July 22, 2010) (quoting  Matter of Associated Building Wreckers, Inc., DEP Docket No. 2003-132, Final Decision, 11 DEPR 176 (July 6, 2004)).  “While the Department retains the discretion as to the weight given to the various factors, the penalty amount must reflect the facts of each case.”  Id.  Thus, the Department “bears the ultimate burden of persuasion to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it acted in accordance with its discretion in determining the amount of the penalty—that it sufficiently considered the required statutory and regulatory factors, and such consideration is reflected in the penalty amount.”  Id.  

Here, Franklin contends that MassDEP should have reduced the penalty based upon: (1) the alleged absence of evidence showing actual harm to the environment, (2) Franklin’s expeditious remediation of the asbestos violations once New England Recycling notified it of the asbestos, (3) the absence of prior violations by Franklin, and (4) Franklin’s statement that it would have complied with the environmental laws had it known that the shingles contained asbestos.  See Franklin’s Memorandum of Law, pp. 17-18.
The Department provided detailed testimony regarding how it considered mitigating and aggravating factors when it calculated  the penalty.  See Levin PFT.  The Department reduced each of the four penalties by 25% based upon Franklin’s “good faith.”  Levins PFT, Exhibit 6.  That reduction resulted from the Department considering a number of aggravating factors in addition to the prompt remediation, a mitigating factor, resulting in the net downward adjustment of 25%.  Levins PFT, ¶ 60, 71, 82, 93.
The Department also increased each of the penalties by 25% for “gravity,” except for the violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a. for failing to “containerize and seal the asbestos-containing waste material in leak-tight containers,” for which it made a 30% adjustment.  Id.  This gravity based adjustment is based upon the seriousness of the particular violation relative to other violations of the same statutory or regulatory requirement including the actual and potential impact on public health, safety, welfare, and the environment and the actual or potential costs incurred, and actual and potential damages suffered, by the Commonwealth as a result of the violation.  The Guidelines do not allow adjustments downward for gravity.  Levins PFT, ¶ 58.  Mr. Levins testified to the seriousness of failing to provide prior notice to the Department and to properly containerize the asbestos and dispose of it.  Because asbestos was not properly containerized and handled it may have harmed workers, including workers at New England Recycling, and exposed the general public while being transported on the public roads.  Levins PFT, ¶ 58, 69, 80, 91.

Mr. Levins considered Franklin’s lack of prior noncompliance but testified that the noncompliance category only provides for upward adjustments, and prohibits downward adjustments.  Levins PFT, ¶ 59, 70, 81.
Based upon all of the above, I find that the Department acted in accordance with its discretion in determining the amount of the penalty—it sufficiently considered mitigating and aggravating circumstances in accordance with its statutory and regulatory mandates and such consideration is reflected in the penalty amount.  I therefore find that the penalty is not excessive.
CONCLUSION
I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner affirm the PAN.  A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that the violations were willful and that the Department sufficiently considered mitigating circumstances when it calculated the penalty.   
NOTICE-RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION
This decision is a Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer.  It has been transmitted to the Commissioner for his Final Decision in this matter.  This decision is therefore not a Final Decision subject to reconsideration under 310 CMR 1.01(14)(d), and may not be appealed to Superior Court pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A.  The Commissioner’s Final Decision is subject to rights of reconsideration and court appeal and will contain notice to that effect.  Once the Final Decision is issued “a party may file a motion for reconsideration setting forth specifically the grounds relied on to sustain the motion” if “a finding of fact or ruling of law on which a final decision is based is clearly erroneous.”  310 CMR 1.01(14)(d).  “Where the motion repeats matters adequately considered in the final decision, renews claims or arguments that were previously raised, considered and denied, or where it attempts to raise new claims or arguments, it may be summarily denied. . . .  The filing of a motion for reconsideration is not required to exhaust administrative remedies.”  Id.

Because this matter has now been transmitted to the Commissioner, no party shall file a motion to renew or reargue this Recommended Final Decision or any part of it, and no party shall communicate with the Commissioner’s office regarding this decision unless the Commissioner, in his sole discretion, directs otherwise.  
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�  “Asbestos tends to break into a dust of microscopic fibers. Because of their size and shape, these tiny fibers can remain suspended in the air for long periods of time and can easily penetrate bodily tissue when inhaled. Because of their durability, these fibers can remain in the body for many years.  Asbestos is known to cause asbestosis and various forms of cancer. Asbestosis is a chronic disease of the lungs which makes breathing progressively more difficult, and can lead to death. Cancer can result from breathing asbestos fibers and lung cancer is the most frequent. Mesothelioma, an incurable cancer of the chest and abdominal membranes, almost never occurs without exposure to asbestos. Asbestos related diseases have a long latency period and do not show up until 10 to 40 years after exposure. Each exposure increases the likelihood of developing an asbestos-related disease.”  � HYPERLINK "http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm" �http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm�. (emphasis in original).


� “PFT” refers to Pre-Filed Direct Testimony.  “Transcript” shall refer to the transcript of testimony elicited at the adjudicatory hearing.  The parties’ motions to correct the record with respect to typographical errors in the transcript are hereby allowed.  


� Mr. Levins’ Pre-Filed Rebuttal testimony is dated June 29, 2010, but erroneously titled “Department’s Prefiled Direct Testimony of Gregory P. Levins,” when it should have been titled as his rebuttal testimony.


� As discussed below, he later testified that Mr. Jordao was responsible for engaging the company that shipped the container into which demolition debris was placed.





�  It also listed “Manny” as a contact person.


�See Matter of RDA Construction Corporation, Docket No. 2009-015, Recommended Final Decision (June 16, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (June 22, 2010) (“Exposure to asbestos causes many painful, premature deaths due to mesothelioma and lung, gastrointestinal, and other cancers, as well as asbestosis and other diseases. . . . Studies show that asbestos is a highly potent carcinogen and that severe health effects occur even after short-term, high level or longer-term, low level exposure to asbestos.”; “People are frequently unknowingly exposed to asbestos and are rarely in a position to protect themselves.  Asbestos is generally invisible, odorless, very durable, and highly aerodynamic.  It can travel long distances and exist in the environment for extended periods.  Therefore, exposure can take place long after the release of asbestos and at a distant location from the source of release.” (quoting 40 CFR Part 763, January 12, 1989, published in the Federal Register, Vol. 54, No. 132, at 29467)).





� Franklin introduced much testimony relating to its knowledge of asbestos and the applicable laws, and I have therefore made findings regarding such knowledge.  While this evidence and these findings are relevant in this appeal, they are not necessary to finding Franklin’s liability for the penalty.  See infra. at pp. 16-28.





� Indeed, it’s difficult to reconcile Mr. Meehan’s general statement that he “never dealt with asbestos in [his] career” with his vast experience in real estate and automobile dealerships.  Asbestos products exist in both industries.  See infra. at n. 9.    


� See e.g. � HYPERLINK "http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm" �http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm� (stating the need to investigate and identify asbestos materials before working on buildings and stating that: “Examples of commonly found asbestos containing materials include, but are not limited to, heating system insulation, floor tiles and vinyl sheet flooring, mastics, wallboard, joint compound, decorative plasters, asbestos containing siding and roofing products and fireproofing.”) (emphasis added); � HYPERLINK "http://www.epa.gov/asbestos/" �http://www.epa.gov/asbestos/� (“asbestos has been used for a wide range of manufactured goods, mostly in building materials (roofing shingles, ceiling and floor tiles, paper products, and asbestos cement products), friction products (automobile clutch, brake, and transmission parts), heat-resistant fabrics, packaging, gaskets, and coatings.”) (emphasis added).





� Franklin’s motion to strike assumes without analysis that the contested statements are all hearsay, i.e., out of court statements offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein.  MassDEP did not file a written response to the motion to strike, and instead stated generally at the hearing that hearsay was admissible, Franklin could have called the declarants to testify, and Mr. Levins could be cross-examined regarding the alleged hearsay.  MassDEP did not address the reliability of the alleged hearsay or whether the out of court statements were hearsay.  Transcript, pp. 6-11. 





� See also Automobile Insurers Bureau of Massachusetts v. Commissioner of Ins., 430 Mass. 285, 291 (1999)(“In appropriate circumstances, a fact finder in a civil dispute may draw a negative inference from the failure of the party with the burden of proof to call a witness or produce information within the party's control which would shed light on the party's position on a material issue.”).





� The hearing officer in Dynamics Research recognized that issues of intention and good faith could be taken into consideration in determining the amount of the penalty.  Id.  (citing 310 CMR 5.25(3), (4), (5)).





� Given this state of the law, this tribunal is not in a position to adopt the alternative definition of willful proffered by Franklin, which takes into account whether the actor had a culpable state of mind.  See Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, pp. 13-14 (citing Shaw v. Rodman Ford Truck Center, Inc., 477 N.E.2d 413, 19 Mass. App. Ct. 709 (1985); Computer Systems Engineering, Inc. v. Qantal Corporation, 571 F. Supp. 1365 (1983)). 


�See Franklin’s Post Hearing Brief, p. 10 (“We submit, however, that based upon the Department’s interpretation of “willful,” every single person breaching the environmental laws, even when the circumstances are as benign as Franklin’s, has acted willfully.”)  





� There is no dispute that the materials at issue were solid waste.


� The Recommended Final Decision explicitly based this vicarious liability analysis on the Recommended Interlocutory Decision (October 8, 2009), which was adopted in pertinent part by the Commissioner in the Interlocutory Remand Decision (January 6, 2010).   See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) ( “In that regard, it’s worth repeating the statement of the law provided in the RID (pp. 14-16)”).  


� See inadvertent. Dictionary.com. Dictionary.com Unabridged. Random House, Inc. � HYPERLINK "http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/inadvertent" \t "_parent" �http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/inadvertent� (accessed: February 09, 2011) (1.“unintentional . . . 2. Not attentive; heedless.  3. Of, pertaining to, or characterized by lack of attention.); inadvertent. Dictionary.com. Collins English Dictionary - Complete & Unabridged 10th Edition. HarperCollins Publishers. � HYPERLINK "http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/inadvertent" \t "_parent" �http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/inadvertent� (accessed: February 09, 2011) (“1. failing to act carefully or considerately; inattentive  2. Resulting from heedless action; unintentional”).





� The merits of Franklin’s argument based upon lack of willfulness and error or inadvertency might be more persuasive if it contended, for example, that (1) Franklin inadvertently sent advance notice of the removal of asbestos shingles to the wrong address despite acting reasonably to avoid that error, (2) an employee of Franklin unforeseeably failed to send advance notice of the removal of asbestos shingles to DEP when evidence showed that Franklin had intended to and did take all reasonable measures to have the notice sent, or  (3) Franklin inadvertently specified that the container be delivered to New England Recycling when in fact evidence demonstrated that it had intended to have the container delivered to a location that could accept asbestos.  Mr. Levins testified that if someone knocked asbestos shingles off a house by accidently driving their car into it, he believed that would be accidental or an unintentional act, and not a willful act.  Transcript, p. 59. 
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